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Form
1A

Claimant’s Hearing Preferences
Independent Assessment Process (IAP)

IAP File Number: E5442-10-
Protected B

(when completed)
Claimant’s Name: 

STANDARD TRACK       COMPLEX TRACK

Adjudicator:
What is your gender preference for the 
Adjudicator? 

Male Female No Preference

Location:
What is your preference for the location of the 
hearing? 

Interpreter:
Is an interpreter required? If yes, in what 
language?

Yes No Language:

Resolution Health Support Worker:
Do you wish to have a Resolution Health Support 
Worker (RHSW) attend the hearing?  

Yes No If yes, please 
indicate male or 
female 
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All RHSWs are Aboriginal and are available 
to attend the hearing with you to provide 
support.  They will also give you guidance on 
available support programs.

preference: 

Male                

Female            

No Preference  
May we provide the RHSW with your contact 
information so they can call you before the 
hearing?  This will allow them to introduce 
themselves.

(If , please give the telephone number where 
they can reach you.)

Yes No Phone number:

Travel Arrangements:

Will you need to travel to attend the hearing? 

If yes, please tell us:
- how you will travel, 
- where you are coming from, and, 
- if you will travel alone or with your support 
persons.

*Please tell us your preferences for 
accommodations: smoking or non-smoking rooms, 
one or two beds, separate rooms, etc.

PLEASE NOTE THAT A LOT OF HOTELS DO NOT 
ALLOW SMOKING IN THEIR ROOMS.

Prepaid accommodation and transportation will be 
arranged when needed.  Meal and travel expenses 
are reimbursed a few weeks after the hearing.  In 
extreme circumstances we may be able to advance 
you travel funds for meals and/or travel.  This is 
not the regular practice and can delay the 
scheduling of your hearing.   Please provide 
details if a travel advance is required.

Yes No Details:
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A REQUEST FOR A TRAVEL ADVANCE MUST 
BE RECEIVED AT LEAST FOUR WEEKS PRIOR 
TO THE HEARING.  
(We can only provide advances to you as the 
Claimant and not to your support person.)

Support People:

If you have support people attending your 
hearing:

Please provide the names and addresses for any 
support person(s) attending the hearing.

Please tell us what their travel and accommodation 
needs are.

Please state if your support person(s) will be 
travelling with you or separately, and if they 
require shared or separate hotel rooms.

This information is needed to make travel 
arrangements and issue travel claims

Yes No Name(s):

Address(es):

Travel/Accommodations:

Witnesses:

If you have any witnesses attending 
your hearing:
1.  Please provide the names and addresses 
for any witness(s) attending the hearing.  

2.  Please tell us what their travel and 
accommodation needs are. 

3.  Please state if your witness(es) will be 
travelling with you or separately, and if they 
require shared or separate hotel rooms.

This information is needed to make travel 
arrangements and issue travel claims.

Yes No Name(s):

Address(es):

Travel/Accommodations:
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Prayer/Ceremony:
Do you wish to have a prayer or ceremony 
performed before or after the hearing?  

Please check Prayer or Ceremony.  

If it is a Ceremony, we need to know who will 
be performing the Ceremony.

Yes No Prayer Ceremony

Who?

Type of Ceremony?

Elder Participation:
Do you wish to have an Elder attend your 
hearing?

If Yes, please state if this office is to make 
arrangements, or if you will bring an Elder 
with you.  

If the Secretariat is to arrange for an Elder, 
we need to know your cultural background 
and/or your tribal affiliation.

Yes No

Oath Process:
What type of oath process do you prefer?   Bible – Swearing in – Eagle 
Feather 

If an Eagle Feather is to be used in the prayer, ceremony, or in the Oath 
Process, please tell us if you have your own Feather, or if an Elder or RHSW 
should provide it.

Who will provide the Eagle Feather? 

Bible                   

Swearing In            

Eagle Feather    
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Health Concerns:
Do you have any special health concerns that we need to be aware of when 
setting up the hearing?   If yes, please tell us about the concerns below. 

.

Yes No

Church Participation Preferences :

The Church involved in your claim is a party to the Independent Assessment Process.  That 
means they have the right to participate in your hearing.  

However, not all Churches send representatives to each hearing.  Where the church chooses not 
to participate, they may still wish to attend your hearing to witness your evidence and/or provide 
pastoral support.

Please check off the appropriate box below:

I prefer that a church representative not be present to bear witness and/or provide pastoral 
support.

I would like a church representative to be present to bear witness and/or provide pastoral 
support.

Every effort will be made to accommodate your stated preferences.
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PROTECTED B (when completed)

IAP File Number: E5442-10- Priority:                    Harm 
Level:

Claimant’s Name:                                                   Track:                        Loss 
Level:

Request for Hearing in the Independent Assessment Process

I am writing to request a hearing.  I confirm that I have submitted all mandatory 
documents that I intend to/am able to submit in support of the harm and loss levels I 
am claiming, as required by Schedule D of the Indian Residential Schools Settlement 
Agreement.

Where to send Form 1A and Form 1B:

Once all documents are collected, please submit these forms to:

Indian Residential School Adjudication Secretariat, Client Services
25 Eddy Street
7th Floor
Gatineau, Quebec K1A 0H4

Or by fax to: Attn: Indian Residential School Adjudication Secretariat, Client Services
819-934-0848

_________________________ _________________________
Date Claimant Signature

Form
1B
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1                                      Ottawa, Ontario

2  --- Upon commencing on Thursday, November 14, 2019,

3      at 10:00 a.m.

4  SWORN:  SONY PERRON

5  EXAMINATION BY MS. McISAAC

6 1                   Q.   Just to confirm, Mr.

7  Perron, this is a cross-examination on two

8  affidavits you have sworn in Court File T-1621 of

9  '19?

10                     A.   Yes, this is accurate.

11 2                   Q.   The first being an

12  affidavit dated October 3, 2019, which was filed

13  in support of the Attorney General of Canada's

14  motion to stay the Human Rights Tribunal order of

15  September 6th, 2019?

16                     A.   Yes, exactly.

17 3                   Q.   Thank you.  And I'm going

18  to refer to that as the compensation ruling.  And

19  the second affidavit was sworn November 8, 2019 in

20  response to the motion by the First Nations Child

21  and Family Caring Society, which I will refer to

22  as the Caring Society, its motion to hold the

23  judicial review in abeyance?

24                     A.   Yes, it is.

25 4                   Q.   Thank you.  And counsel,
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1  can you just confirm that Mr. Perron's affidavits,

2  both of them will be relied on with respect to

3  both motions?

4                     MR. FRATER:  Yes, that's

5  correct.

6                     MS. McISAAC:  Thank you.

7  --- (Off-record Discussion)

8                     MS. McISAAC:

9 5                   Q.   Thank you.  Mr. Perron, I

10  would like to start with some background questions

11  with respect to your affidavits.  But before I do

12  so, I note that your affidavit contains a number

13  of representations about the nature of Canada's

14  compliance with the Tribunal's existing orders,

15  and I just want to place on the record the fact

16  the Caring Society will not be exploring these in

17  any detail today.  But it is our position that

18  pursuant to the Tribunal's record and decisions,

19  Canada has opposed each of the noncompliance

20  motions before the Tribunal.

21                     We also note that those

22  representations regarding Canada's approach to the

23  orders is in our view irrelevant to the stay

24  motion, and that's why we are not cross-examining

25  on them.  That speaks to what is happening in the
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1  future as opposed to compensation for those who

2  have been discriminated against in the past.

3                     Having said that, could I get

4  you to look at paragraph 2 of your first

5  affidavit, please?

6                     A.   Yes.

7 6                   Q.   Now I understand that you

8  have worked with Indigenous Services Canada, which

9  I will refer to as ISC, and that you are currently

10  the Associate Deputy Minister and have been such

11  since December of 2017, is that correct?

12                     A.   Yes, I've been the

13  associate deputy minister since mid-December 2017.

14 7                   Q.   All right.  Prior to

15  that, you were the Senior Assistant Deputy

16  Minister at the same department?

17                     A.   Mostly at the Health

18  Canada department.  This branch or this sector was

19  transferred to the new department, called

20  Indigenous Services Canada, in fall of 2017.

21 8                   Q.   Okay.  And then prior to

22  that, from 2011 to 2012, you were the Assistant

23  Deputy Minister for Health Canada's corporate

24  services branch?

25                     A.   Exactly.
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1 9                   Q.   And prior to that,

2   Director General for the non-insured health

3   benefits program?

4                      A.   Yes.

5 10                   Q.   Have you read all of the

6   orders issued by the Tribunal respecting Jordan's

7   Principle?

8                      A.   I have read -- yes, I

9   have read all the orders since the merit decision

10   of 2016.

11 11                   Q.   So I'm right in saying

12   that you've been involved in one way or another in

13   the Federal government's implementation of

14   Jordan's Principle since the House of Commons

15   unanimously passed its motion 296 in December of

16   2007?

17                      A.   No, this is not accurate.

18   I have been involved in the file that is referred

19   to as Jordan's Principle starting in 2016.

20 12                   Q.   '16?

21                      A.   Before that, as the

22   Tribunal has assessed as part of this work, the

23   focus of Jordan's Principle was very narrow, so I

24   was not involved in dealing with the application

25   of Jordan's Principle.  However, I was involved in
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1   my previous function in dealing with a lot of

2   situation where children needed services that were

3   not necessarily available in their communities or

4   on their federal program, and trying to find

5   solution.  But not necessarily under Jordan's

6   Principle as a matter of work, finding a solution

7   within existing programs and authorities, or

8   sometimes partnerships.

9 13                   Q.   Okay.  So I would be

10   correct, though, in saying that you are fully

11   familiar with the Human Rights process in this

12   particular case, the various decisions and the

13   hearings that have been held?

14                      A.   Fully familiar might be,

15   like, very specific as a description.  There is a

16   lot in all of these decision over time.

17 14                   Q.   Fair enough.

18                      A.   So there is some aspect

19   of these decision that I'm much more familiar

20   with.

21 15                   Q.   Now I would like to focus

22   on the period from January of 2016 to May of 2017.

23   I understand that during that period you were

24   responsible for Health Canada's implementation of

25   the Tribunal's orders with respect to Jordan's
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1   Principle?

2                      A.   Yes, this is accurate.  I

3   was involved into assessing the merit decision and

4   determining what will be the course of action in

5   terms of dealing with the application of Jordan's

6   Principle.

7 16                   Q.   And was it your belief

8   during that period, January of 2016 to May of

9   2017, that Canada had complied with the Tribunal's

10   orders regarding Jordan's Principle?

11                      A.   Yes, it was.  And our

12   understand -- my understanding at the time of what

13   was required by the Tribunal order has proven to

14   not be accurate following future -- later decision

15   from the Tribunal, where the Tribunal told us that

16   the definition we were still using was not broad

17   enough.

18 17                   Q.   Right.  So the Tribunal

19   found that in fact you weren't in compliance with

20   their order?

21                      A.   The Tribunal got much

22   more precise on what was the definition that they

23   wanted the government to follow in terms of the

24   application of Jordan's Principle, and determined

25   that the approach we had taken between the merit
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1   decision and the next order was not appropriate.

2 18                   Q.   And that was the

3   Tribunal's decision of May 2017.

4                      A.   Exactly.

5 19                   Q.   Right.  Okay.  And Canada

6   brought an application for judicial review of that

7   May 2017 decision, correct?

8                      A.   Some aspect of it, it's

9   accurate.  There was an attempt to work with the

10   parties to address some of the technical

11   dimension, namely the consultation with healthcare

12   providers, and we were not successful, so the

13   decision was to file an application for judicial

14   review to try to get this dimension resolved.

15 20                   Q.   But subsequently, you

16   represented Canada in negotiations with the Caring

17   Society to achieve amendments to that decision to

18   satisfy your operational concerns and

19   requirements, correct?

20                      A.   Contrary to what happened

21   before the filing of the review, the parties were

22   interested to discuss these detail after.  And we

23   found, I would say, an acceptable resolution that

24   provides safety to the decisionmaking around

25   Jordan's Principle for the children.
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1 21                   Q.   By working together.

2                      A.   Yes.  This is accurate.

3 22                   Q.   And then as a result, the

4   judicial review was withdrawn?

5                      A.   This was, I think, a

6   decision of the parties that we had found

7   appropriate compromise, and then we would drop

8   judicial review, yes.

9 23                   Q.   Thank you.  Could I get

10   you to look now at paragraph 4 of your affidavit?

11   This is the first affidavit.  In that paragraph

12   you say:

13                           "I have reviewed the

14                           Canadian Human Rights

15                           Tribunal's Ruling and

16                           Order on compensation..."

17                      The order that's subject to

18   the judicial review in this case.

19                           "... and have determined

20                           that ISC requires

21                           authority from Cabinet in

22                           order to determine what

23                           steps Canada will take in

24                           response."

25                      Now, you will agree with me,
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1   of course, that we had an election and a new

2   government has been elected, albeit a minority?

3                      A.   Yeah, we were at the edge

4   of an election being launched at the time where

5   the September 6th decision came.

6 24                   Q.   And Cabinet will be

7   formed, at least the Prime Minister's announced

8   that he will be forming or announcing his Cabinet

9   on November 20th?

10                      A.   Yes, with the same

11   understanding that next week on November 20th, we

12   should have a new Cabinet.

13 25                   Q.   And would I be correct in

14   assuming that you and the department would be

15   ready to brief the new Cabinet and any new

16   responsible Ministers about the ruling immediately

17   after that?

18                      A.   Immediately the

19   announcement of the new Minister for our

20   department, our role as senior official will be to

21   brief the Minister on all important and active

22   files.  This will of course include this file.

23 26                   Q.   Right.  And in that case,

24   I assume again, and would I be correct in

25   assuming, that you have started preparing ideas at
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1   least?  I'm not asking precisely what, as to how

2   implementation might take place or what needs to

3   be done next to put to the Minister and Cabinet?

4                      A.   We have started to work

5   -- we have worked on preparing briefing, which is

6   about the assessment of the order itself, the

7   background of all the situation, because we cannot

8   presume who will be the Minister at the time and

9   what might be the way forward.

10 27                   Q.   Options for moving

11   forward.

12                      A.   Yeah.  We will discuss

13   with the Minister the views in terms of what could

14   be the next step.

15 28                   Q.   Now, have you taken any

16   steps to identify the person who would enter into

17   discussions with AFN and the Caring Society to

18   talk about compensation processes if that becomes

19   necessary?

20                      A.   No.  We haven't

21   identified a specific person as indicated in my

22   affidavit.  At this time we do not have the

23   mandate and the authority, so when we have

24   addressed these questions, then we can determine

25   what will be the course of action and who will be



Court File No. T-1621-19
CROSS-EXAMINATION OF SONY PERRON November 14, 2019

(613) 564-2727 (416) 861-8720
A.S.A.P. Reporting Services Inc.

Page 13

1   the person.

2 29                   Q.   Okay.  And how long after

3   November 20th would it take, do you think, to

4   organize that and get some instructions from your

5   Minister and/or Cabinet?

6                      A.   I cannot presume what

7   will be the timing for us to access Cabinet and

8   get decision and direction on this question.

9 30                   Q.   Now, I understand that

10   the Prime Minister, Minister Bennett, who was the

11   Minister or may again be the Minister, and

12   Minister O'Regan, have all said that the victims

13   of discrimination should be compensated.

14                      I also understand that the

15   leaders of the New Democratic Party, the Bloc, and

16   the Green Party, as well as Mr. Scheer eventually,

17   on behalf of the Conservative Party, have also

18   agreed that these children who were the victims of

19   discrimination as found by the Tribunal should be

20   compensated.  Is that correct?

21                      A.   I have knowledge that a

22   number of member of the government have pronounced

23   with the fact that children that have been victim

24   of discriminatory policy from the government in

25   the past should be compensated, and that we were
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1   to work toward providing the right services to

2   children and family.

3 31                   Q.   In the future?

4                      A.   In the future.

5 32                   Q.   What steps have been

6   taken to deal with the issues of the past

7   discrimination, should Cabinet and the ministers

8   instruct you to move forward on the basis of

9   compensation?

10                      A.   Sorry.  Can you repeat

11   the question?

12 33                   Q.   All right.  If the

13   ministers and/or Cabinet instruct you to proceed

14   with some kind of compensation, what steps have

15   you taken to date in anticipation of those

16   instructions?

17                      A.   As I said before, we have

18   reviewed the September 6th decision, what are the

19   specific orders in terms of who need to be

20   compensated according to the order.  We have done

21   an assessment of what might be the financial

22   application of that, and there is some detail

23   about that in my affidavit.

24                      And we have identified the

25   information that we have in the department about
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1   how it will proceed.  We have to look also, and

2   this is described in my affidavit, about the other

3   example of broad compensation that happened in

4   recent past, and how they have operated.  There

5   are various models.  So this is the kind of work

6   we have done so far.

7 34                   Q.   All right, in

8   anticipation of instructions you might receive?

9                      A.   In anticipation that we

10   have a Tribunal order that gives us specific

11   action to take, and our job is to assess how this

12   could be made possible.

13 35                   Q.   Now, in paragraph 5 of

14   your affidavit, you say that the Tribunal ordered

15   Canada to pay this maximum, you are referring to

16   the $40,000, to a number of categories of

17   individual.  But you will agree with me that

18   Canada is not required to pay anything until the

19   Tribunal issues an order with regard to a

20   compensation process, correct?

21                      A.   The Tribunal order from

22   September 6th indicated that the Tribunal will

23   rule after a future submission from the parties on

24   the process, and this is probably at the time

25   where we would get some specific instruction about
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1   how this should go about.  In the past, however,

2   there has been orders where the Tribunal was very

3   precise in terms of date and these timeline were

4   really, really short.  So I cannot presume where

5   the Tribunal would go, but this is where we would

6   know more about how this would proceed.

7 36                   Q.   Right.  But you will

8   agree with me that no money actually has to be

9   paid out to anybody until the compensation process

10   has been either agreed on by the parties or

11   ordered by the Tribunal.

12                      A.   There is no payments that

13   are required at this time until we have a future

14   ruling from the CHRT based on the September 6th

15   decision.

16 37                   Q.   Now, in paragraph 5(a),

17   you refer to one of the categories of individuals

18   who are entitled to compensation as being:

19                           "First Nations children

20                           living on reserve and in

21                           the Yukon who were

22                           removed from their

23                           families or communities,

24                           necessarily or

25                           unnecessarily."
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1                      Could I get you to take a look

2   at paragraph 249 of the actual Tribunal decision?

3   Do you have that?  I notice, actually, it's not in

4   your motion record, Mr. Frater.

5                      A.   I do not have a copy of

6   the order.  Thank you.  249?

7 38                   Q.   249, please.  Take a look

8   at that, and then I will ask my question.

9                      A.   Okay.

10 39                   Q.   Now if you want to go

11   back to the beginning of that paragraph, in my

12   version it's the bottom of page 83 of the

13   decision.  And I would suggest to you that your

14   statement in paragraph 5(a) of your affidavit is

15   overly broad because the Tribunal specified that

16   this group of victims was:

17                           "First Nations children

18                           living on reserve and in

19                           the Yukon territory who

20                           was as a result of abuse

21                           were necessarily

22                           apprehended from their

23                           homes but placed in care

24                           outside of their extended

25                           families and
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1                           communities." (As read)

2                           Correct?

3                      A.   So you are trying to

4   paraphrase paragraph 239 -- 249?

5 40                   Q.   Yes.  Well, I was reading

6   from 249, I believe.

7                      A.   Yes.

8 41                   Q.   So that is the category

9   of --

10                      A.   This is the order that

11   was issued on September 6th, 2000.

12 42                   Q.   And I'm suggesting to you

13   that your statement in paragraph (a) is overly

14   broad in terms of the children involved, because

15   it doesn't define it by children placed in care

16   outside their extended families and communities.

17                      A.   The -- my affidavit is a

18   summary of the order, but it doesn't replace the

19   content of the order in terms of how we need to

20   act.  So, and it doesn't pretend to be a

21   translation of the order here.

22 43                   Q.   All right.  So we have to

23   go back to the order to be absolutely certain

24   about which categories of children are to be

25   compensated under the order?
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1                      A.   Of course.  The order is

2   the frame for compensations that have been given

3   by the Tribunal.

4 44                   Q.   Right.  Now at paragraph

5   6 of your affidavit, you say:

6                           "Canada is required to

7                           report back to the

8                           Tribunal by December 10,

9                           2019, on a compensation

10                           process agreed by the

11                           complainants."

12                      Are you -- I put it to you

13   that the Tribunal wants you to report back if we

14   reach an agreement, but if agreement hasn't been

15   reached, the parties would make submissions on a

16   compensation process?

17                      A.   So could you repeat your

18   question?

19 45                   Q.   Well, I'm having a little

20   trouble with paragraph 6, because I put it to you

21   that what the order says that if the parties agree

22   on a compensation process, they will come back to

23   the Tribunal with that compensation process and

24   present it to the Tribunal by December 10th.

25   Correct?
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1                      A.   Yeah.  My understanding,

2   however, is that any party can go back to the

3   Tribunal at any time with their own proposal to

4   the Tribunal.

5 46                   Q.   Exactly.  So if the

6   parties don't reach an agreement, the various

7   parties would each make their own submissions to

8   the Tribunal as to what the process should be.

9                      A.   I would say beside

10   Canada, the other parties have the discretion to

11   make a submission or not.

12 47                   Q.   Right.  Okay.  Now in

13   paragraph 8 of your affidavit you say,

14                           "Given the scope and

15                           impact of the Tribunal's

16                           decision, I believe that

17                           commencing the

18                           compensation process

19                           before the Tribunal's

20                           decision can be

21                           judicially reviewed is

22                           unfair to the claimants,

23                           to ISC and the government

24                           more generally, and so is

25                           not in the public



Court File No. T-1621-19
CROSS-EXAMINATION OF SONY PERRON November 14, 2019

(613) 564-2727 (416) 861-8720
A.S.A.P. Reporting Services Inc.

Page 21

1                           interest."

2                      First of all, I think we have

3   agreed that the current order doesn't require the

4   government to actually pay any money at the

5   moment.

6                      A.   There is nothing in the

7   order that require paying of money between now and

8   December 10th -- 9th.

9 48                   Q.   Actually --

10                      A.   Could you just confirm

11   what is the date of December?  Just to make sure.

12 49                   Q.   It is December 10th.

13                      A.   December 10th.

14 50                   Q.   Correct.  Or until such

15   time as either the parties who agree to a

16   compensation process or the Tribunal orders a

17   compensation process.

18                      A.   Yeah, and we, based on

19   previous experience, the Tribunal sometimes have

20   ordered executive decisions pretty quickly.

21 51                   Q.   Well, but at the moment,

22   you don't have to pay any money to anybody?

23                      A.   There is no request to do

24   any payment at this point.

25 52                   Q.   Now, in paragraphs 17 to
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1   20 of your affidavit, you talk about Jordan's

2   Principle and steps that the department ISC has

3   taken to deal with the various discriminatory

4   conduct that the Tribunal has found?

5                      A.   Yeah, it summarizes a

6   number of specific action that have been taken

7   over time to address the service issues that were

8   identified by the Tribunal over time.

9 53                   Q.   And you will agree with

10   me that none of those steps address the past

11   discrimination.  They are all looking forward to

12   address issues that come up.

13                      A.   Well, some orders did

14   address the past of the systematic discrimination

15   issues.  For example, the Tribunal have ordered to

16   reimburse agencies for past expenditures that

17   where they would have incurred a likely deficit in

18   their operation.  The Tribunal has ordered, and

19   even Canada went beyond a review of cases of

20   Jordan's Principle that might have been denied,

21   and we did.  So there was a number of actions that

22   look at the past.

23 54                   Q.   All right.  But by and

24   large, these are steps that you have implemented

25   for the future to deal with discriminatory
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1   practices?

2                      A.   Yeah, most of the action

3   taken by Canada since 2016 has been about

4   reforming the Child and Family Services Program

5   and funding models for the Child and Family

6   Services agencies, as well as implementing

7   Jordan's Principle.

8 55                   Q.   Thank you.  Now going

9   back to paragraph 2 of your affidavit.  Sorry to

10   jump around a bit.  You say in the last sentence

11   of that paragraph,

12                           "As a result, I

13                           understand the two groups

14                           within ISC that are most

15                           immediately affected by

16                           the Tribunal's order."

17                      Which two groups are those?

18                      A.   The two sectors in

19   Indigenous Services Canada that are involved in

20   this, there is the Child and Family Services

21   reform sector, and there is the First Nation and

22   Inuit Health Branch sectors.  So those are two

23   sectors that are actively involved in

24   implementation of the order, and addressing

25   deficiencies that were identified over time by the
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1   Tribunal.

2                      And also I would say a number

3   of issues that may not have got Tribunal

4   attention, but were identified between the parties

5   as reforms that needed to be undertaken.

6 56                   Q.   And would these two

7   groups also be involved in the development of an

8   implementation process if that were to be done?

9                      A.   The expertise around

10   Child and Family Services or Jordan's Principle is

11   a sector.

12 57                   Q.   And how many people are

13   employed approximately in these two sectors?

14                      A.   The sectors are, for the

15   First Nation Brach we probably have around 2,500

16   employees, but most of them are not involved in

17   Jordan's Principle.  The group that support

18   Jordan's Principle is smaller than that.

19                      And for the Child and Family

20   Services reform group, I don't have the exact

21   numbers.  We are talking about a couple of

22   hundreds, but I don't have the number exactly.

23 58                   Q.   That's fine.  And of

24   those, how many people would be involved in the

25   sort of -- I would think it was the policy side of
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1   things and actually working on a compensation

2   process, if you were to do that.

3                      A.   I don't have that

4   information.  I haven't performed any assessment

5   to determine this at this point.  We have people

6   that are doing policy work on various subject,

7   various aspects in these sectors, but we haven't

8   done an assessment of how many people we would

9   need to put on such a team.

10 59                   Q.   All right.  And have you

11   ever visited the offices of the Caring Society?

12                      A.   Yes.  I did visit the

13   office of the Caring Society.

14 60                   Q.   And are you aware that

15   the Caring Society has two full-time and four

16   part-time employees?

17                      A.   No, I was not aware of

18   this.

19 61                   Q.   But you would agree with

20   me that the Caring Society operates with a

21   relatively small staff?

22                      A.   It's definitely a small

23   organization.

24 62                   Q.   And you are familiar with

25   the various activities of the Caring Society, are
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1   you?

2                      A.   I wouldn't say that I'm

3   familiar with all the activities, but I'm familiar

4   with some.  I'm familiar with some of the work of

5   the Dr. Blackstock in terms of reaching out,

6   working with children, promoting, conferencing.

7   Of course she's a highly visible person.

8 63                   Q.   And you would agree with

9   me that the Caring Society is engaged in many more

10   activities than just this Human Rights Tribunal

11   case?

12                      A.   My understanding is that

13   it's a very active organization, and Dr.

14   Blackstock, the leader of the organization, is

15   very active.

16 64                   Q.   Now, in paragraph 7 of

17   your affidavit you say:

18                           "I'm advised, based on

19                           the department's

20                           interpretation of the

21                           Orders, that immediate

22                           implementation would

23                           require a significant

24                           investment of human and

25                           financial resources."
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1                      What information do you rely

2   on for that assessment?

3                      A.   As it's indicated in my

4   affidavit, we have done general costing of what it

5   might mean in a number of individual that could

6   end up being compensated under the order of the

7   Tribunal of September 6th, looking at the various

8   class that are identified in the detailed order.

9                      So we have a size of -- we

10   have a sense of the size of the class, of the

11   group, and we were able to assess in comparison to

12   other large settlement or resolution like that,

13   and compensation process that happen in recent

14   past, what it would take to address such process.

15 65                   Q.   So?

16                      A.   So significant here is

17   the general number.  I can get more specific, for

18   example, under the residential school settlement

19   process, at the peak it was -- there was an

20   expenditure of 60 million dollar a year to manage

21   a secretary, to do the education and the payment

22   of the claim.

23                      There is different process,

24   but this gives us an indication that it's a

25   significant undertaking when you look at broad
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1   compensation like that.

2 66                   Q.   But you are referring to

3   the actual payment of the compensation and the

4   administration of the structure developed to pay

5   the compensation?

6                      A.   Yeah.  And this is not --

7   it's not an indication that it would be as such a

8   structure that we'd require in that case, but it

9   gives an element of comparison.  And we look at

10   different models that use alternative model

11   outside agencies to do the payment, and we get to

12   a significant amount, whatever model would be used

13   in the future for our compensation like that.

14 67                   Q.   So it's fair to say that

15   you in the department have had some considerable

16   experience in developing an administration --

17   administrating, pardon me, compensation schemes?

18                      A.   There is some people that

19   are currently in the department that have been

20   involved in compensation process in the past.

21   Surely, yes.

22 68                   Q.   And I assume that their

23   expertise and knowledge would be useful in

24   developing a compensation scheme in this case as

25   well.
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1                      A.   We would rely on people

2   that have expertise in doing this, as well as

3   engagement with the involved parties to determine

4   the best course of action.

5 69                   Q.   Now in paragraph 7, you

6   also say:

7                           "The public service is

8                           not in a position to

9                           seek -- "

10                      A.   Sorry.  Can you repeat

11   the number?  Seven?  Thank you.

12 70                   Q.   Seven, sorry.  Second

13   half of that paragraph:

14                           "The public service is

15                           not in a position to seek

16                           the required authority to

17                           pursue meaningful

18                           discussions with the

19                           Assembly of First Nations

20                           and the First Nations

21                           Child and Family Caring

22                           Society prior to

23                           December 10th as ordered

24                           by the Tribunal."

25                      And that's because typically
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1   you say these decisions are made by the Cabinet.

2                      A.   Yes.

3 71                   Q.   All right.  But by --

4                      A.   Well, our assessment was

5   that we did not have the authority to proceed with

6   the discussion because we did not have a mandate

7   to do such thing at this time.  It's something

8   that we do systematically each time there is a new

9   undertaking, not only coming from the Tribunal,

10   but part of our work, generally speaking.  We look

11   at what are the authority of the department to

12   proceed with some work.

13                      In the past we have, I think,

14   a good track record working with the parties under

15   this merit ruling, and in terms of engaging and

16   consulting, finding a resolution, compromise,

17   understanding issues of each other.  So we have

18   this, but we always do that when we have the

19   authority.  In few instances in the past where we

20   did not have the authority, we did inform the

21   parties that until we have such authority, we

22   would be more on the listening mode and getting

23   their views, their perspective.

24                      But to be engaged into a fair

25   and transparent way with the parties, we need to
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1   have a mandate.  Otherwise we are asking our

2   official in the department to do work without

3   proper authorities.  And this is not necessarily

4   consistent with the way we are usually working

5   with.

6 72                   Q.   But once you have a

7   Cabinet appointed, which will be November 20th,

8   and you have had an opportunity to brief up, you

9   should be able to obtain instructions to either

10   proceed or not proceed, correct?

11                      A.   We will for sure work

12   with the new Minister following the appointment to

13   determine the best course of action.

14 73                   Q.   Now, in paragraph 8 you

15   say,

16                           "Given the scope and

17                           impact of the Tribunal's

18                           decision, I believe that

19                           commencing the

20                           compensation process

21                           before the Tribunal's

22                           decision can be

23                           judicially reviewed is

24                           unfair to the claimants,

25                           to ISC and to the
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1                           government more

2                           generally, and not in the

3                           public interest." (As

4                           read)

5                      I'm having some trouble.  Why

6   is it unfair to everybody to at least start

7   talking about a compensation process that might be

8   implemented?  After all, you might be unsuccessful

9   in your judicial review.  You might be

10   unsuccessful in your stay.  How it can be unfair?

11                      A.   So the paragraph 8

12   doesn't say that having a discussion is unfair.

13   It's undertaking the compensation process that is

14   unfair.  And if you want, I can explain to you

15   why.  First, if there is a judicial review, and in

16   the future --

17 74                   Q.   But you are not -- you

18   are not being asked to pay any money yet, correct?

19                      A.   We are not asked to pay

20   any money yet.  And my point here on paragraph 7

21   is starting the payment.  And like I said before,

22   it did happen that the Tribunal order payment in a

23   really short term of some measures.  And in the

24   order of September 6th, if you look at the detail,

25   the various class, some of the class, some of the
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1   subgroup would be really easy to identify and

2   payment could take really short because the

3   Tribunal already determined what is the amount of

4   payment.  So there is not a process of assessment

5   here.  You need someone that is identified as a

6   claimant that legitimately went through Child and

7   Family Services care, and the payment could be

8   issued.

9                      So for some of it, not all,

10   the complexity of issuing payment is really,

11   really simple.  For some others it's much more

12   complicated.  So we can see a situation where some

13   payment could be done really quickly and some

14   others would take more time.

15 75                   Q.   Right.  But none of that

16   comes up until you have an order with a

17   compensation process that requires you to make

18   payments.

19                      A.   Can you repeat the

20   question?

21 76                   Q.   I said:  None of that

22   arises until you have a compensation process in

23   place and the Tribunal issues a second order with

24   respect to actual payment?

25                      A.   My understanding is as
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1   soon as December 10th, the Tribunal can issue

2   order and ruling in terms of how the compensation

3   could proceed, should proceed.

4 77                   Q.   Unless the parties ask

5   for an extension of that December 10th date.

6                      A.   If there is an extension,

7   if the Tribunal decision can come later, you are

8   right.

9 78                   Q.   Thank you.  I think if we

10   could just take a break for a moment, please.  I

11   would like to revisit some of my questions, if

12   that's okay with everyone.

13   --- Recess taken at 10:40 a.m.

14   --- On resuming at 10:54 a.m.

15                      MS. McISAAC:  Back on the

16   record.  Thank you, Mr. Perron.  Those are all of

17   my questions, but I believe some of the other

18   parties will have questions for you as well.

19   Thank you.

20                      THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

21   --- Upon recessing at 10:55 a.m.

22   --- On resuming at 11:10 a.m.

23                      MR. WUTTKE:  It's Stuart

24   Wuttke, Thomas Milne for the Assembly of First

25   Nations, but before we ask our questions I
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1   understand that, just to confirm, that the Chiefs

2   of Ontario and NAN and the Commission will not be

3   asking any questions.

4                      MS. DEARMAN: I can confirm

5   that on the behalf of Chiefs of Ontario.  No

6   questions.

7                      MS. WALSH:  Jessica Walsh for

8   the Canadian Human Rights Commission.  I confirm

9   the Commission will not be asking any questions

10   today.

11                      MS. CHURCHILL:  And on behalf

12   on NAN, Molly Churchill.  No questions for NAN.

13   EXAMINATION BY MR. WUTTKE

14                      MR. WUTTKE:  Thank you, Mr.

15   Perron.  My name is Stuart Wuttke.  I'm with the

16   Assembly of First Nations, and I have a few

17   questions to ask you.  First of all, I would like

18   to thank you for taking time to be with us today.

19                      THE WITNESS:  Pleasure.  Thank

20   you very much.

21                      MR. WUTTKE:

22 79                   Q.   So at the outset, you

23   mentioned that there are a number of individuals

24   in the department that have experience in

25   compensation schemes.  Do you in particular have
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1   any experience in those compensation schemes you

2   mentioned?

3                      A.   You are talking about

4   myself?

5 80                   Q.   Yes.

6                      A.   Large scale in

7   compensation, no.  I was involved in settlement of

8   small issues.  Smaller issues, not small.  They

9   were important, but did not include large groups

10   of people.

11 81                   Q.   Thank you.  Now at

12   paragraph four of your affidavit, you state that

13   essentially that ISC or your department requires

14   Cabinet approval before they do anything, is that

15   correct?

16                      A.   Well, I think it would be

17   more specific than that.  In that particular case

18   we have reviewed the orders.  And the order orders

19   us to develop a model of compensation and

20   undertake a compensation based on some specific

21   direction provided by the Tribunal.

22                      We have assessed if we have in

23   the department, whether legislative or policy

24   authority, to undertake such activities.  And

25   under both the Child and Family Services Program
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1   and Jordan's Principle Child First Initiative

2   program, we do not have an element of authority

3   that will allow us to undertake activity called

4   compensation.

5                      So it means that, and it's the

6   case for any undertaking from the department, we

7   need to look at what we have authority.  And if we

8   don't and there is a need to do it, we have to go

9   back to Cabinet to seek proper policy authority.

10   And if there is financial implication that are

11   beyond the capacity of the financial, the

12   department, what has been already appropriated,

13   seeking a source of fund to undertake this work.

14                      So on both side under the

15   program activity, authority, and the financial

16   side, the order as defined, we did not have the

17   authority to undertake it like that.  So we have

18   to seek authority from Cabinet.

19 82                   Q.   Thank you.  And you

20   mentioned Jordan's Principle.  Would you agree

21   that the department did not go back to Cabinet

22   when it expanded the definition of Jordan's

23   Principle?

24                      A.   We sought expansion of

25   authority, yes.
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1 83                   Q.   You did seek?

2                      A.   When it was beyond the

3   authority that were granted before, we seek an

4   adjustment of authority, yes.  So there was

5   instances where some of the order of the Tribunal

6   brought us into places where we already had the

7   authority, and there is a place where I do

8   remember we did not have the authority and we had

9   to seek adjustment to the decision from Cabinet in

10   terms of what we were allowed to do.

11 84                   Q.   Okay, let's parcel that

12   out for a second.

13                      So when -- at first the

14   department was operating on a definition of

15   Jordan's Principle that was not in line with what

16   Parliament had expressed.  Would you agree with

17   that?

18                      A.   You are referring to the

19   pre-2016?

20 85                   Q.   Yes.

21                      A.   My understanding, and I

22   said that before in term of answer, I was not

23   involved in Jordan's Principle.  My understanding,

24   however, there was actually a Cabinet authority

25   provided to define how Jordan's Principle at the
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1   time was to be implemented.

2 86                   Q.   Yes.  So Jordan's

3   Principle was being provided.  However, the

4   Tribunal had stated that that definition that was

5   used by the department was overly restrictive.

6                      A.   Exactly.  In 2016 in the

7   merit decision, the Tribunal indicated that the

8   definition used -- and the government needed to

9   implement the full breadth of Jordan's Principle.

10 87                   Q.   So in 2016, shortly after

11   the order, did the department seek Cabinet

12   approval to do expand Jordan's Principle to

13   address the decision in 2016?

14                      A.   Authority was sought, I

15   think, for an expansion of the definition

16   following the first order, which I don't remember

17   the date exactly, of noncompliance around Jordan's

18   Principle.  The indication of the Tribunal at that

19   time was to expand further, and we sought

20   authority from Cabinet to implement the initiative

21   that was called at the time Child First

22   Initiative, Jordan's Principle implementation,

23   yes.

24 88                   Q.   At paragraph 7 you state

25   that in normal circumstances, how did you put
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1   it -- essentially, under normal circumstances,

2   decisions such as compensation are to be made by

3   Cabinet.  Now would you agree that Cabinet did

4   provide direction to the department with respect

5   to the Indian Residential School Settlement

6   Agreement, the Sixties Scoop, and the Day Scholar

7   Settlement?

8                      A.   Likely, but I was not

9   involved in these initiatives.

10 89                   Q.   Would you agree that

11   settlement discussions are quite different from

12   what happened in this case, where you actually

13   have an order by a panel?

14                      A.   Could you repeat the

15   question?

16 90                   Q.   Would you agree that

17   settlement discussions that are provided by

18   Cabinet such as the Indian Residential School

19   Settlement Agreement, the Sixties Scoop, Days

20   Scholars, it's quite different from what we have

21   in this case, where a Tribunal has made an order?

22                      A.   My understand is that

23   whether it's a settlement or it's implementing the

24   order, officials that will be carrying the work to

25   work with the parties to find a way forward in
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1   this needs a mandate that is given by Cabinet that

2   say, here is the parameter under which you can

3   negotiate or develop a plan.  And this is, in both

4   case, there is a need for a mandate.

5 91                   Q.   Yes.  And you would agree

6   that the order right now is not the final

7   settlement order?

8                      A.   My understanding is that

9   the order is very specific about some of the

10   dimension of the compensation, but there is an

11   indication from the Tribunal that they want -- or

12   they expect submissions from the parties.  And

13   then they will -- the panel will plan an issue,

14   likely a new order to define what will be the

15   compensation approach.

16                      There is even a component of

17   the order from September 6th that invite the

18   parties to submit additional request for other --

19   I don't have the language, exactly.  Other class

20   of recipients or claimants that should be

21   considered.

22 92                   Q.   Would you agree though

23   that the order speaks to the parties essentially

24   working together to develop a compensation scheme,

25   if possible?
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1                      A.   The order talks about

2   both, working together to develop a process to

3   implement, but the parameter of the order in terms

4   of what the compensation is to be about, in term

5   of who should be compensated, the amount, some of

6   the high-level criteria, are already defined by

7   Tribunal.

8 93                   Q.   Would you agree that

9   meetings with respect to compensation have

10   occurred in several occasions in the past between

11   the department and the parties?

12                      A.   There is in the past,

13   before the Tribunal order there was an attempt to

14   try to advance work on several outstanding issues,

15   trying to do it collaboratively.  And in some

16   places we were successful, but I understand we

17   haven't reached a common ground on compensation.

18 94                   Q.   But it was brought up at

19   previously meetings?

20                      A.   It was discussed between

21   the parties, yes.

22 95                   Q.   And would you also agree

23   that since the Tribunal made its decision in 2016,

24   and to basically January 2016, compensation has

25   been an outstanding item?
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1                      A.   Yeah, it was identified

2   by the Tribunal as an element that will be subject

3   of a future decision.

4 96                   Q.   I'm sorry to jump back.

5   At paragraph 6, you mention the December 10th

6   date.  You state that:

7                           "Canada is required to

8                           report back to the

9                           Tribunal by December

10                           the 10th on a

11                           compensation process

12                           agreed by the

13                           complainants.  Failure to

14                           reach an agreement will

15                           result in a panel

16                           ordering one of its own

17                           creation."

18                      Now, with respect to that, has

19   Canada contemplated asking for an extension of

20   that December 10th deadline?

21                      A.   Yes, this was part of the

22   initial assessment to determine how we can

23   proceed.  The understanding, however, was that

24   going to an extension will not be sufficient.  We

25   needed -- if there was concern about the decision
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1   itself, we needed to go through a judicial review

2   within 30 days after the order in order to protect

3   the right of Canada and the government going

4   forward to bring this forward in court.  So this

5   was considered, yes, and I understand that our

6   legal counsel recently informed the parties that

7   we would be asking the Tribunal for an extension

8   of that date.

9 97                   Q.   So within that 30-day

10   period, were you aware that should Canada receive

11   consent of the parties, that a simple extension

12   could have been made to the Federal Court by way

13   of letter?

14                      A.   I think this was

15   mentioned that this was a possibility, yes.

16 98                   Q.   And the department chose

17   not to explore that possibility, is that correct?

18   With the parties.

19                      A.   I'm not sure about the

20   verb you use, like "chose," but the fact is that

21   we haven't, so I assume that the conclusion is the

22   same.

23 99                   Q.   Thank you.  At paragraph

24   13 of your affidavit, you speak about the

25   department working with the parties.  Never mind.
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1   You already answered that question, so I will move

2    on to the next one.

3                       With respect to the section at

4    paragraph 17 to essentially -- to 31.  On the

5    reforms to the Child and Family Services,

6    compliance with respect to Jordan's Principle, and

7    steps taken to address systemic discrimination.

8                       AFN won't be speaking

9    questions about this, other than we do agree that

10    none of these paragraphs actually address

11    compensation?

12                       A.   These paragraphs address

13    the systemic discrimination that have been

14    identified by the Tribunal, and all these measures

15    were to address systemic discrimination.  Now, the

16    compensation is an individual compensation that is

17    directed by the Tribunal, so we have a view that

18    Canada's work towards addressing the systemic

19    issue related to the Child and Family Services

20    programming, as well as implementing the broad

21    definition of Jordan's Principle, which were two

22    of the systematic deficiencies that were clearly

23    made in the merit decision of 2016.

24 100                   Q.   That's correct.  But you

25    would agree that they don't speak to compensation
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1    as ordered in the last order by the Tribunal?

2                       A.   They don't talk about

3    compensation as defined in the order of

4    September 6, 2019.

5 101                   Q.   Thank you.

6                       A.   Sorry.  I think I've used

7    the word in English, "systematic."  I would like

8    to say systemically.  Sorry.  For the record.

9 102                   Q.   Moving on to paragraph 42

10    of your affidavit.  In this section you talk about

11    potential harm to Canada's relationship with the

12    claimants.  You mention that the parties will have

13    to initiate discussions.  Would you agree that the

14    order is only to discuss compensation process at

15    this time?

16                       A.   The order has an element

17    of discussion about the compensation process, but

18    there is a specific in the order about who should

19    be compensated and how they should be compensated

20    under which criteria.  So it's more than ordering

21    only discussion.

22 103                   Q.   You also mention in this

23    paragraph, you know, further orders.  You would --

24    would you agree that Canada already expects that

25    further orders with respect to regarding the
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1    definition of -- such as the definition of First

2    Nation Child is still ahead?

3                       A.   The Tribunal told us

4    before that this decision will be coming, yes.

5 104                   Q.   So you are not surprised

6    that further orders will be forthcoming from the

7    Tribunal?

8                       A.   The Tribunal has been

9    very diligent to keep the parties informed about

10    long term relief measures and additional orders

11    that become where they will have to then make

12    decisions.  I know that some of our staff have

13    participated into hearings around these subject.

14    I know that the Department of Justice has made

15    representation on these question.  So it's

16    expected that the Tribunal will come and have

17    ordered a decision on the definition of who is a

18    First Nation Child, and small -- I think there is

19    an element on capital and small agencies, and also

20    continued the oversight over the orders.

21 105                   Q.   At paragraph 43, you

22    basically provide a scenario here, and I would

23    suggest it's a speculative scenario.  But you

24    mention that ISC would have to initiate

25    communications about its compensation process.
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1                       In your opinion, who would ISC

2    have to communicate this process with?

3                       A.   I think the claimants

4    needs to be informed.  Maybe it's not going to be

5    ISC directly.  It might be done in different

6    fashion, but they will have to be informed about

7    the way they can submit a claim, how the payment

8    will be issued, what will be the process.  In

9    order to execute an order around compensation, you

10    would have to reach those who are the most

11    interested by this in a short fashion to let them

12    know how this is going to go in terms of timelines

13    as well.

14                       Our concern, however, is that

15    if through the judicial review process the order

16    was to change, this will cause a lot of challenge

17    for these individual that might be told that the

18    compensation will proceed in a certain way, and

19    then having to change this communication rightly

20    after if there is a decision of the court to

21    change the order.

22                       So this is one of our main

23    concern.  And if you read my affidavit in full,

24    you will see that one of my main concern was if we

25    don't have stable order and if we haven't got the
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1    final decision on that, it's probably preferable

2    to wait for a final decision before we initiate

3    outreach to the potential claimants, so we don't

4    create false expectation or disappointment in the

5    long run.

6 106                   Q.   You would agree, though,

7    that the communications in those plans is a

8    process that would normally be developed in your

9    communications discussions with the Caring Society

10    and Assembly of First Nations?

11                       A.   Obviously this is -- the

12    best way to proceed is to do it in partnership

13    with the parties interested and probably other

14    groups, because in such a process we would

15    probably need the participation of Child and

16    Family Services agencies themselves, because they

17    have some of the recourse and some of the

18    information.  So it will involve a large group of

19    people.

20                       My comments earlier was on the

21    claimants, their families, but there is also all

22    the other parties that will have to contribute to

23    such of a process.

24 107                   Q.   Yes, but you would agree

25    that an actual notice plan will have to be
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1    developed, provided by the Tribunal, before any

2    communications are made to the claimants?

3                       A.   The Tribunal already by

4    the order communicates some information about what

5    will be the process.  But we need, according to

6    the order of September 6th, to get back to the

7    Tribunal to get the panel to vet and issue a

8    following order about the compensation process.

9    You are right.

10 108                   Q.   Paragraph 44 of your

11    affidavit, you state -- you basically mention that

12    if the process was stopped due to a judicial

13    review, if the process of compensation was

14    stopped, this would be very damaging to ISC's

15    relationship with First Nations people.  Can you

16    please explain what you mean by this statement?

17                       A.   We are working with First

18    Nation people with communities with various group

19    all the time on various subject.  And one thing

20    that we are asking our staff and our teams is to

21    be very transparent and truthful and try to stay

22    course when they make commitments.  Here we are in

23    a situation where there is a potential through a

24    judicial review in future court decision that some

25    of the parameter or the engagement process might



Court File No. T-1621-19
CROSS-EXAMINATION OF SONY PERRON November 14, 2019

(613) 564-2727 (416) 861-8720
A.S.A.P. Reporting Services Inc.

Page 51

1    be modified over time by a court decision.

2                       So as an administer, I'm

3    concerned that we engage into a process whereby we

4    say something one day that is really important and

5    sensitive, because Canada has made clear in the

6    past that compensation for those who were victim

7    of discrimination based on past policy, these

8    children, needed to be compensated.

9                       But through the course of a

10    court decision, having to go back to them and say

11    well, this is the parameter of change.  So this is

12    my concern, and this is what I try to express in

13    the affidavit.  And suggesting that a stay was

14    probably better until we know the conclusion of

15    the judicial review process.

16 109                   Q.   Would you also agree that

17    it's very damaging to ISC's relationship with

18    First Nations people, that it has taken several

19    years to get to this point?

20                       A.   Could you repeat the

21    question?

22 110                   Q.   Would you agree that it's

23    very damaging to ISC's relationship with First

24    Nations people that it has taken seven years to

25    get to this point in compensation, and also
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1    reforms to the First Nation Child program?

2                       A.   Several important steps

3    have been taken to reform and address a systemic

4    issue in the management of the Child and Family

5    Services Program.  For example, as you can see in

6    my affidavit, funding has more than doubled.  We

7    are going to reach 1.3 billion dollars this year,

8    while we were around 600 million dollars 4 years

9    ago.  So money is not everything, but it's

10    important.  So some of the problem that came with

11    the way the program was structured has been in

12    part addressed.

13                       We are moving toward formal

14    reform of the funding methodology.  We are at this

15    time funding actual level of cost for the

16    agencies, even in addition providing money to the

17    communities for prevention activities.  So a

18    number of systemic issues that were billed in the

19    old program have been addressed seriously, in

20    part.  There is more work to do.

21                       So there is a work that have

22    been done in the last -- since the merit decision

23    of 2016.  So hopefully, while the relationship

24    cannot be perfect at all time, there is progress

25    that have been achieved around that poor
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1    relationship.  And that movement is being made to

2    get to a formal reform of the way Child and Family

3    Services operates in various part of the country.

4                       With the bill C92 as well,

5    which is an important step to create a condition

6    for reform, I'm confident that we have made some

7    progress there to give back control to First

8    Nation, particularly of their Child and Family

9    Services, rather than a program being directed by

10    government policy funding arrangement and

11    agencies.  Over time we will get First Nation

12    taking over the system and these services much

13    more under their control.

14 111                   Q.   All right, thank you.

15    And has the department received any inquiries

16    about the compensation at this time?

17                       A.   I'm aware of some

18    inquiries coming to the phone line for Jordan's

19    Principle, but the number has not been very high.

20    Initially we were concerned that staff that are

21    supposed to answer calls from individual that

22    needs services will be impacted by people calling

23    to know how they can be compensated.  But the

24    number of them fairly low, according to the report

25    I received a couple of weeks ago.
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1 112                   Q.   All right, thank you.

2    And just in relation to this paragraph, with

3    respect to filing judicial review, would you agree

4    that -- sorry.  I just lost my place.  We can move

5    on to paragraph 44.  Sorry.  I was on that

6    paragraph.

7                       Now, in paragraph 44 you

8    mention -- if you want to look at paragraph 44,

9    you make a statement that:

10                            "Given the sensitive

11                            nature of this task, and

12                            for the reasons stated

13                            above, it would be very

14                            challenging to start

15                            implementing the

16                            Tribunal's orders without

17                            certainty."

18                       What do you mean by the

19    sensitive nature of this task?

20                       A.   So the sensitive nature

21    of this task.  The Tribunal order asked us to

22    indicate that we need to compensate children, or

23    now some of them are adults, that went through the

24    Child and Family Services, that were taken care

25    of, removed from their home and families under
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1    certain parameters.  I understand from past

2    interaction with some, with documentation I read,

3    that this could be a very traumatic event.

4                       So asking them at one point to

5    submit a claim, or participating to a process to

6    receive compensation.  If the orders are at risk

7    to be changed through a future court decision,

8    it's very sensitive.  So you don't want -- I don't

9    want to think that we would put people into a

10    situation that can bring back past trauma.  And in

11    the course of that process, tell them that they

12    did that, and now the rule of the games are

13    changing because there was a deferred court

14    decision.

15                       So my assessment was that if

16    we go through this process, we will have to bring

17    safety around that, we will have to bring support

18    as we did for other processes like that.  But at

19    the same time, we need to have some certainty that

20    the process is going to unfold as planned

21    initially.  If there is a risk that parameter

22    changed through course, we have to try to minimize

23    the impact on the individual.  And this is a

24    concern I had, and this is what I express in my

25    affidavit, that if we start the process it should
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1    be on solid ground and limited risk that

2    parameters change over time.

3 113                   Q.   Would you agree that the

4    claims process, the applications form, all

5    parameters with respect to having sensitivities to

6    ensure that victims are not re-victimized by the

7    process is an element that would have been

8    addressed in your consultations with the AFN and

9    Caring Society?

10                       A.   It's the kind of element

11    that are being addressed through developing a

12    compensation process, you are right.  However, in

13    that case some of the parameter are already

14    defined, so we have to work from there.  It's not

15    like we are doing consultation and there is no way

16    of starting from a clean page.  There is some

17    parameters and rules that have been set by the

18    Tribunal, and these are the ones that if a future

19    decision of the Federal Court was to change that,

20    would that have an impact on the individual parts

21    getting to the process.

22                       And this is, the only purpose

23    of the affidavit here was to say if these are to

24    change in the future, we might be better to take a

25    pause and wait for certainty before we start this.
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1 114                   Q.   But again, you would

2    agree that the discussions regarding the claims

3    process, developing the claims form, hasn't

4    occurred yet?

5                       A.   It did not.

6 115                   Q.   Thank you.  I believe

7    those are all the questions of the Assembly of

8    First Nations.  I do have one potential

9    undertaking.  In your discussion about getting

10    Cabinet approval to change Jordan's Principle

11    shortly after 2016,could we get an undertaking to

12    see those instructions?  If they are not Cabinet

13    secrecies?

14                       MR. FRATER:  Sorry.  It's

15    cross-examination.  They probably are Cabinet

16    secrecy, but there's no undertakings on

17    cross-examination.  It's not discovery.

18                       MR. WUTTKE:  All right.

19                       MR. FRATER:  No

20    re-examination.

21    --- Whereupon the cross-examination concluded

22        at 11:40 a.m.

23

24
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covering most of the territory were underfunded approximately $400 million over a �ve-year period.

The number of deaths jumps to 102 Indigenous children when looking at the entire province between 2013 to 2017.

And almost half of the deaths, 48 involving Indigenous agencies, happened in the two years it took Prime Minister Justin Trudeau to respond to
multiple orders made by the Canadian Human Rights Tribunal that first found Canada guilty of purposely underfunding on-reserve child welfare
in its historic decision on Jan. 26, 2016.

“Nothing the government can do can make up for the wrongs it consciously perpetrated against kids. And I want to emphasize that it was
conscious. It wasn’t an accident,” said Cindy Blackstock who led the fight against Canada, along with the Assembly of First Nations, to bring
Canada to task over discriminating against First Nations children through the tribunal.

But while the federal government may be the bagman, funding at least 93 per cent of on-reserve child welfare, the Ontario government created
the system where these children died and provides the law within which the child welfare agencies operate. It’s a system that has been found to
be a complete failure over and over up until just last year when the chief coroner of Ontario released a special report into the deaths of 12
children who died in care, eight of whom were Indigenous.

As well, the 102 deaths marks the lowest number on record as APTN’s investigation reveals data was never collected properly over this five-year
period.

Many believe it to be much higher.

In fact, while it’s improving, Ontario’s data collection still faces some serious questions, such as how many Indigenous kids are in care today in
Ontario?

No one knows the total number.

APTN reporter Kenneth Jackson has spent over two years unraveling Ontario’s child welfare system beginning with the death of Amy Owen, a
13 year old girl who died by suicide in an Ottawa group home over 2,000 kilometres from her First Nation in northwestern Ontario.

The work was made more difficult because the system – from the agencies to the Ontario government to even the courts – keep information
from the public and, as APTN encountered, can mislead it at times.

Caught in the middle of all this are the parents left without their children.

This is: Death as Expected.

S
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(These are just a few of the Indigenous children that died connected to Ontario’s child welfare system between 2013-2017. Photo illustration:
Alicia Don.)

Every year the office of the chief coroner in Ontario publishes a document based on the number of paediatric deaths, from newborns to 19 years
old, called the Paediatric Death Review Committee report and posts it online. There’s never a press release alerting the public, or media, to the
report based on approximately 1,100 paediatric deaths on average each year. It is shared with policy makers.

Its purpose is predominately to look for trends in the data to hopefully prevent deaths in the future and a portion of the report focuses on deaths
involving the child welfare system.

It’s in these reports that APTN first learned of the 102 deaths, but it wasn’t that simple.

Earlier this year, APTN asked the coroner’s office if it had the number of Indigenous children that died in care over the last five years. The
coroner’s office later emailed a chart showing that 19 Indigenous kids died over that period.

APTN knew the number was low having written about so many of these deaths and having knowledge of several more that went unreported.

But the devil is in the details and in this case that meant the footnote on the chart where it said the number was based on how the province
defines “in care”. That’s foster care, group homes, jails and hospitals. But there are many other ways child welfare agencies in Ontario can be
directly involved in a child’s life.

APTN was then alerted to the most recent paediatric death report for 2017. There was a much larger number: 32 deaths “involving” child welfare.

“Involving” is the key word.

The coroner tracks deaths of children who, or whose family, personally had contact with an agency within 12 months of their death. On average,
about 70 per cent of the children had an open agency file at the time of their death.

APTN then examined reports going back to 2013 adding up the deaths. The coroner mentions in the reports that the data is limited based on the
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way the Ontario government collected it.

Still, it was the starting point.

But why were these children dying?

(This is the official number of Indigenous children connected to Ontario’s child welfare system that died between 2013-2017. Chart: Alicia Don.)

There are 50 child welfare agencies in Ontario, including 11 that are called Indigenous well-being societies (a new Indigenous agency opened
last February but is not part of this story). Each submits quarterly reports to the ministry of children, community and social services (formally
ministry of children and youth services). The reports are supposed to track every type of care agencies use for children and the funding agencies
were allocated.

APTN requested these reports through the Freedom of Information Act covering the span of the 102 deaths and ended up settling on what’s
known as a roll-up, where this data is put in spreadsheets and added up annually. It was a massive amount of data and not easily readable as
some portions were just scanned print-outs of the spreadsheets which meant each had to be individually put in a spreadsheet.

Other parts had the names of agencies cut off for an entire year and we had to compare previous years to match numbers to agencies based on
the order they were in.

“All this data was presented to you in a way that was so difficult to assess,” said Dr. Kim Snow, a professor at Ryerson University and leading
expert in child welfare who is typically called upon to investigate systemic issues across the province.

That includes reports for the former Ontario child advocate who had Snow examine what’s known as serious occurrence reports that are
submitted to the province every time a child in care is hurt, goes missing or dies. Snow was also enlisted by the chief coroner to be part of what’s
known as a special panel that released a report in September 2018 into the 12 deaths of children in care between 2014 and 2017.

The panel examined each child’s file, some over 1,000 pages, and got a look into how agencies operate. Snow, and the other experts, found the
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system was lacking in almost every area from trained staff, services and foster care. The term “lack of” is mentioned 37 times in the 86-page
report.

Snow agreed to help APTN analyze the data along with the help of her grad student, Marina Apostolopoulos, and spent the summer going over
every number.

Having previously examined the files of northern agencies during the panel review, Snow already knew they were struggling and noticed quickly
that funding was drastically lower for Indigenous agencies in northern Ontario. She developed a formula to compare funding to non-Indigenous
agencies in southern Ontario with similar caseload, like average children in care annually.

Snow knew these three Indigenous agencies were underfunded by approximately $400 million between 2013 to 2017: Tikinagan Child and
Family Services that serves over 30 First Nations in northwestern Ontario, Dilico Anishinabek Family Care serving 13 nations around Thunder
Bay and Payukotayno: James and Hudson Bay Family Services, which includes Attawapiskat.

The three agencies cover most of northern Ontario and APTN can also confirm deaths with each. The number rises to $500 million if you go
back just one more year to 2012.

“You have less funding, you have less qualified staff, you have a more crisis-like response and you often have to fly people from one place to
another to find a place of safety,” said Snow, explaining how much more difficult it is for these agencies compared to, say, Windsor-Essex
Children’s Aid Society.

Windsor had an average of 613 children in care in 2013 and was allocated $56 million, while Dilico had an average of 583 kids in care and was
allocated $26 million. It only gets worse.

Even as Windsor’s children in care went down its funding increased. Dilico’s kids in care would stay the same and saw barely an increase over
the next fours years. In total, Dilico was underfunded approximately $137 million in comparison in five years.

“The end result is kids die. Kids are always at the epicentre of structural inequality,” said Snow.
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But families don’t see the funding issues when agency workers show up to remove their children, mostly due to poverty-related issues. Snow
said the number of children being abused physically or sexually is low.

The families APTN interviewed see the agencies as the enemy.

That includes the family of Kanina Sue Turtle who died Oct. 29, 2016. She was 15.

There are suing (https://aptnnews.ca/2018/09/27/kanina-sue-turtles-family-sues-tikinagan-for-5-9m-over-her-wrongful-death-in-foster-home/) the
agency for $5.9 million, alleging Tikinagan is at fault for Turtle dying by suicide in one of their short-term stay homes – known as an agency-
operated home – in Sioux Lookout.

(Kanina Sue Turtle’s brother Winter Suggashie, left, and her mother Barbara Suggashie walk for suicide awareness in the summer of 2018. They
were also walking to the foster home where Turtle died by suicide. Barbara would go in the room for the first time. Photo: Kenneth
Jackson/APTN)

Turtle filmed her death which was first reviewed, and reported, by APTN in late February 2018. It shows she was left alone for more than 46
minutes despite being chronically suicidal. APTN went on to report she missed every scheduled appointment with a crisis counsellor in the five
days before her death and that Tikinagan suspected she was part of a suicide pact. Tikinagan also kept her three suicide letters from her family
for over two years.

Tikinagan denies in court documents that the agency is to blame for the death, but has filed a cross-action in the claim suing the Sioux Lookout
hospital and doctors saying if anyone is at fault it’s them.

Shortly after Turtle died her girlfriend, Jolynn Winter, 12, also died by suicide while at home in Wapekeka First Nation. After Turtle’s death she
tried to kill herself and was sent to Wapekeka for what is believed to be the first time in her life. APTN previously reported her grandmother didn’t
know Winter was her granddaughter until Tikinagan returned her home a couple months before her death Jan. 8, 2017.

Then Amy Owen died by suicide in Ottawa. Both she and Kanina were from Poplar Hill First Nation.
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Owen’s family is also suing Tikinagan and the private group home operator, Mary Homes. Both deny all allegations and have also blamed each
other in court filings. Owen, like Turtle, was left alone while chronically suicidal. The coroner said she was alone for an hour, while Mary Homes
alleges 10 minutes, according to allegations based on the contents of documents filed in court that have not yet been proven in court.

Soon after Owen’s death another child in Tikinagan’s care died. Tammy Keeash, 17, was found in a Thunder Bay waterway on May 6, 2017,
which was later ruled to be an accidental drowning. It enraged her mother, Pearl Slipperjack, who was angry at Tikinagan, as well as her family
who gave her copious amounts of alcohol the night of her death and then left her passed out on a hill in Chapples park. Tammy was supposed to
be under 24-hour watch by the foster home where she was placed.

Slipperjack passed away the following summer from natural causes, but before her death she told APTN she had a lawyer and was going to sue
Tikinagan.

Shortly after Slipperjack’s death, and before the special panel report was released in September 2018 that included Tammy’s death, APTN got
an anonymous tip in Ottawa about a civil action between Tikinagan and Dilico involving Tammy’s death and “others” filed at the Thunder Bay
courthouse.

APTN pulled hundreds of pages from the case that outlined a turf war between the agencies dating back to the summer of 2016.

Dilico filed an emergency injunction to stop Tikinagan from placing children in Thunder Bay foster homes, arguing it was Dilico’s jurisdiction and
any Indigenous kid in care in the city was under its oversight. Tikinagan disagreed and battle lines were drawn eventually turning into mediation
with Sen. Murray Sinclair overseeing it.

It remained at a standstill for about a year until Tammy died. Days after her death Dilico filed another emergency injunction.

This time Dilico named Tammy as a reason why Tikinagan shouldn’t be able to place kids in Thunder Bay and keep authority over them.

This resulted in a fury of filings and more documentary evidence submitted, which APTN obtained.

APTN later published this story: Foster homes investigated 7 times within a year but Ontario didn’t close them until Tammy Keeash died: court
documents (https://aptnnews.ca/2018/11/15/foster-homes-investigated-7-times-within-a-year-but-ontario-didnt-close-them-until-tammy-keeash-
died-court-documents/)

Join our newsletter today for free. Enter your Email SUBSCRIBE NOW

https://aptnnews.ca/2018/11/15/foster-homes-investigated-7-times-within-a-year-but-ontario-didnt-close-them-until-tammy-keeash-died-court-documents/


12/8/2019 Death as Expected: Inside a child welfare system where 102 Indigenous kids died over 5 years - APTN NewsAPTN News

https://aptnnews.ca/2019/09/25/inside-a-child-welfare-system-where-102-indigenous-kids-died-over-5-years/ 8/18

(A cross still marks the spot where the body of Tammy Keeash, 17, was found in Thunder Bay. Photo: Kenneth Jackson/APTN)

APTN traveled to Thunder Bay to check for anything new in the civil filing in late February 2019.

APTN gave the civil counter clerk the court file number. A few minutes later she wheeled over a large cart about a metre and a half tall stacked
with large folders.

Within five minutes another court worker appeared and asked for the documents back.

“It’s a child welfare case,” she snapped with just a glance at the files. “I don’t think you can see these.”

She said she wasn’t “comfortable” with APTN having the documents.

(Tikinagan had failed to have the documents sealed a year prior. Portions of the documents were supposed to be redacted so no child could be
identified.)

This happened in a matter of a few minutes.

APTN pushed to speak to a manager and soon Laurie Kopanski appeared, a middle-aged Caucasian woman with dark, dirty blond hair.

She repeated she wasn’t sure she could allow APTN to view the files through thick security glass at the counter because she had a “concern.”
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When APTN asked what it was she wouldn’t say.

It was around this time that APTN went to Twitter to report what was happening.

“I need to speak to the judge,” said Kopanski, adding it may take a couple days.

That wasn’t good enough. It needed to happen immediately.

The judge on the case, Justice Bonnie Warkentin, told Kopanski there was no sealing order but she needed to ensure the files had been
redacted by calling Tikinagan, the defendant in the case. Later that day APTN returned to the courthouse to speak with Kopanski again.

APTN informed her it had previously viewed the file and paid money for copies.

“I had a concern over what was publicly accessible,” she said.

APTN hired a lawyer to push for access. A letter from the attorney general’s office to APTN claimed staff had noticed redactions hadn’t been
made.

“Despite the files having been previously viewed in 2018, court staff noticed that the redactions that had been made did not appear to effectively
redact information … Ms. Kopanski sought Justice Warkentin’s direction…” said Vaia Pappas, a director of court services in a March 13, 2019
letter.

While it was later confirmed some redactions were done poorly, it took lawyers from Tikinagan and Dilico several trips to the courthouse to
confirm, it simply couldn’t have been done in the handful of minutes court staff were claiming in the letter.

Letters continued to go back and forth between lawyers until finally APTN was given access in late April earlier this year.

APTN flew back up to Thunder Bay to view the files but this time asked to see all lawsuits involving Tikinagan and Dilico going back five years.
Tikinagan had a couple unremarkable dismissed cases, but not Dilico.

Up until this point APTN had only heard stories about Dilico.

Documents in the courthouse confirmed deaths of infants, another case where a child was placed in the home of a registered sex offender
(https://aptnnews.ca/2019/05/23/foster-child-placed-in-home-of-registered-sex-offender-in-thunder-bay-court-documents/) and allegations of an
agency in apparent disarray around the same time in 2014.

Soon the death total rose to four cases involving dead infants (https://aptnnews.ca/2019/06/13/four-dead-babies-in-care-with-one-common-
theme-dilico-anishinabek-family-care/) within seven months involving Dilico.

Once APTN published stories about Dilico and the deaths of infants more and more people started contacting APTN with their own stories. It
wasn’t necessarily always about deaths but about the fear running through the communities.

One mother told APTN it took months for Dilico to respond to her lawyer because she was revoking her consent to have her children in care.

She had a child in care under a customary care agreement that was supposed to be more culturally appropriate and involve the child’s First
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Nation as support.

Dilico made a shift to this type of care just before 2014, according to former employees and confirmed by the data Dr. Kim Snow analyzed.

In fact, Dilico went from 19,771 days of customary care in the 2012/13 fiscal year to 78,142 days the following year.

It’s only gone up from there.

(Dilico Anishinabek Family Care’s headquarters is located on Fort William First Nation next to Thunder Bay, Ont. Photo: Jason Leroux/APTN)

However, Marco Frangione, a lawyer who represents families in child welfare cases in northwestern Ontario, said these agreements are often
signed under duress and without a lawyer across all agencies.

“In the overwhelming majority of cases these agreements are drafted without the benefit of legal council,” said Frangione. “They are told if they
do retain a lawyer there could be consequences and I have seen this time and time again.”

And once the agreements are signed, in his experience, they are almost never renewed with the parents’ participation. That’s what happened
with Jolynn Winter according to her grandmother who told APTN last year that while she was councillor at Wapekeka she remembered signing
customary care agreements every six months for someone named Jolynn, extending her care, only she didn’t know it was her granddaughter at
the time.

“I can state seeing children not having access to their parents or seeing their parents infrequently is certainly the norm,” said Frangione. “The
parents, often times, think they are doing something in their child’s best interest but they don’t really know how the child or children are being
cared for, to what extent visitation will look like and how the agencies will help better the primary families so that reintegration can ultimately
happen. Customary care becomes the focus as opposed to customary care with a focus on reintegration.”

He said agencies and nations call it “culturally appropriate” when that’s “not often” the case, according to his experience, such as when Kanina
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Sue Turtle died in a Sioux Lookout foster home owned by Tikinagan with a “live-in parent” who was hired to be there on a contract-basis. The
same goes for Amy Owen, who died in a non-descript two-story home on the outskirts of Ottawa that included some trips to a local Indigenous
centre.

Dilico, in Frangione’s experience, is the most difficult to deal with on files.

For one, Frangione said Dilico forces him to review case files at their office while being watched, when all other agencies send the files by email.
This is also known as disclosure, a basic evidentiary procedure in the Canadian court system where the Crown provides the evidence against
the accused in a timely manner. The same applies to child welfare.

He also had a case recently where a parent challenged a customary care agreement and Dilico didn’t respond within five days as it is supposed
to as first reported (https://aptnnews.ca/2019/06/17/thunder-bay-mother-accuses-dilico-of-kidnapping-children-after-lawyers-letters-
ignored/) by APTN. Dilico ended up returning the children without a fight, said Frangione.

APTN tried to get Dilico to go on the record for this story but after several conversations with Darcia Borg, its executive director, it never
happened. The content of those conversations were off the record.

Watch Kenneth’s story Death as Expected:

The first conversation with Borg was in person because this story pulled APTN back to Thunder Bay in early August to find Alicia Jacob.

Jacob attempted to sue Dilico over the death of her son, Talon Nelson, on October 29, 2013.

Talon was three months old when he died in a crowded crib of a Thunder Bay foster home. The coroner would call it an unsafe sleeping
arrangement, however no one was ever charged. The foster parent was a registered nurse.

“Undetermined cause of death, too many stuffed animals in a f***ing sleeping environment,” she screamed when speaking to APTN when we

11:03
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found her in early August.

This is child welfare in northern Ontario at its worst. A baby is dead and the mother lost on the streets.

“I never used to be like this … I have so much anger,” Jacob sobbed.

After the infant’s death his father Nazareth Nelson hit drugs hard. People say he was on some heavy street drugs brought in from Toronto
gangsters the night he killed a man in 2017. He was later convicted for the murder of Burt Issac Wood.

Their lawyer was Christopher Watkins, and just a few months after the lawsuit was filed it was dismissed without costs. During this time Watkins
was struggling himself and the Ontario law society suspended his license back in 2018 due to “a history of failing to attend court appearances in
criminal proceedings dating to at least 2012.”

Watkins issued a public apology saying personal and health problems were to blame.

APTN emailed several of Watkins’ email addresses seeking clarification on why the lawsuit was dismissed.

This was the only response verbatim: “Hi this up and working and interesting journey to convey. Christopher.”

APTN never heard from him again.

Undetermined cause of death is when there is no clear evidence to confirm it. Babies that suffocate often don’t leave any evidence even if the
sleeping arrangement is unsafe and, in Ontario, 22 Indigenous children died in this manner between 2013 to 2017.

“The deaths of infants is very challenging ones in death investigations generally because in sudden and unexpected deaths of infants, so infants
under one, we often unfortunately upwards of a significant percentage of time do not find a cause a death,” said Dirk Huyer, the chief coroner of
Ontario, who is largely seen as someone trying to make incremental change within the system.

“The truth is we don’t know and use a term undetermined which is kind of a harsh term but it means we don’t know. So we say we don’t know.
We say the environment may have been a factor but we don’t know if it was a factor.”
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(https://aptnnews.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Breanne-LeClair1.jpeg)
(Breanne LeClair said getting her late son’s autopsy report and seeing ‘undetermined’ added insult to injury. Photo: Kenneth Jackson/APTN)

Breanne LeClair’s late son Kyler was one of the 102 and also undetermined.

Kyler was in what’s known as a kinship out of care agreement.

That means an agency was involved but he was living with relatives.

In his case, the agency ordered Kyler to live with his Caucasian father.

That was in January 2014 just days after he was born.

To this day it’s difficult for LeClair to talk about.

“My ex and his mom agreed to sign for the kinship so if you sign this document they’ve agreed to let you go with them and the baby or we’re
going to give him the baby,” she said, breaking down in tears.

That living arrangement broke down quickly and she had to move out, forced to leave her Kyler behind.

Then one morning her phone rang.

“It was somewhere around nine in the morning my phone rang. I had my ex’s number saved as don’t answer but I figured I should answer and all
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he said is the baby turned blue. We are on our way to the hospital. I was like what do you mean the baby turned blue?” she recounted.

As LeClair rushed to hospital she called her case worker.

“I just screamed into the phone and I told her if anything happened to him this is on you. This is your fault. You made this decision,” she said.

Then she entered the room and saw her baby on a hospital bed.

“I could hear machines that are just beeping, there’s people running, moving over each other, there’s like three or four detectives in the room,
there’s like five or six nurses and the doctor. I wasn’t really aware of what was going on until I saw him,” said LeClair.

Kyler was gone.

His father left him on an adult-sized bed to take a shower.

He was found lifeless 30 minutes later.

Breanne and her family tried to hold someone accountable.

The case worker wasn’t a licensed social worker so they couldn’t try to hold her to account at the Ontario College of Social Workers.

Then finally the coroner’s report came nearly a year later.

The coroner found the sleeping arrangement unsafe but ruled the death undetermined.

“Where no one has to face anything,” said LeClair.

No one appears to have ever faced anything in any of these deaths.

(Dirk Huyer, right, is the chief coroner of Ontario and says despite exhaustive investigations some deaths involving babies have no cause of
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death. Photo: Jason Leroux/APTN)

Even the 102 is the lowest number available.

If the child was from on-reserve then it stands to reason their race would be easily identifiable.

“You correctly point out that if children were receiving services from an Indigenous agency, then it is pretty easy to identify them as Indigenous
however; we do not systemically obtain race or identity so we do not effectively obtain this information,” said Cheryl Maher, spokesperson for the
chief coroner. “For children and youth living off-reserve and being served by mainstream societies they would be identified by the service or
family of the deceased child. If the child or youth is (First Nation, Inuit, Metis) but not identified, then we have not included them in statistics.”

However, the “mainstream” agencies weren’t required to start collecting race-based data until February 2018, through a policy directive, and to
this day the Ontario government doesn’t have a clear picture of how many Indigenous children are in care or involved with an agency in the last
12 months.

That’s partly because the system designed to capture the data hasn’t worked properly. It’s called the Child Protection Information Network
(CPIN) and it’s a database aimed at tracking the children in the system. However, several non-Indigenous agency directors told APTN issues of
duplication have been a problem where the same child is listed in two regions and counted as two individuals.

The province has also been slow to provide a standardized process for data entry. Several of the 38 agencies required to use CPIN only began
in recent months despite the system being several years old.

It gets worse.

The former Ontario Liberal government didn’t just make it policy to collect identity-based data; it also passed a law in 2017 making it mandatory
for the provinces 38 non-Indigenous agencies. But not until July, 1, 2021.

Indigenous child welfare agencies have refused to be on CPIN, and the ministry is still “engaging with Indigenous partners,” according a
spokesperson.

If you ask the Ontario government how many kids are in care they will say this: “There were 12,651 children and youth in the care of children’s
aid societies and in customary care (in 2018/19 fiscal year), including: 1,569 First Nations children and youth determined to be in need of
protection were in customary care arrangements.”

These numbers are not correct but most people wouldn’t know the difference.

When these numbers were sent to APTN we challenged the province on it. The next day it responded with a similar statement but with a small
change: “In the 2018-19 fiscal year, there were on average 12,651 children and youth in the care of children’s aid societies and in customary
care.”

“On average” was italicized by the government.

“Due to admissions to, and discharges from, care the number of children in the care of Ontario’s 50 children’s aid societies fluctuates. Societies
therefore provide the ministry with the average number of children in care over the course of a year. The average number of children in care is
an average of the total number of children in care at the end of each month, from March 31 of the previous fiscal year to March 31 of the current
fiscal year,” said a ministry spokesperson in an email.

Simply put: the system isn’t able to give a single-point-in-time number because that number can change day to day. It’s just not tracked that way
and yet, unless challenged, the government misleads the public and reporters.

Things have only gotten worse under Premier Doug Ford according to Irwin Elman, the former Ontario child advocate.

The Ford government closed Elman’s office as the Progressive Conservatives’ first move on child welfare after the special panel report came out
saying the system was a mess.

Its doors closed earlier this year; the ombudsman’s office now handles some of Elman’s former responsibilities.
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The closure also came while the advocate’s office was working on 27 investigations, mainly into foster homes, including the home Tammy
Keeash was last in before she died.

Almost everything APTN has written in this story does not come as a surprise to the former advocate.

“To be aware in many ways is to be in a constant state of outrage,” said Elman, Ontario’s first and last child advocate.

But when Elman’s office first opened about a decade ago he noticed something.

“Every three days – Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday – a child connected to care dies. Thursday, Friday, Saturday, a child’s died connected to a
system that is meant on all our behalf to protect them,” he said.

He’s right.

During the five-year period between 2013 and 2017 the coroner lists 541 deaths involving child welfare and 102 were Indigenous.

Indigenous people represent less than three per cent of Ontario’s population.

So when that child dies they are more likely to be Indigenous.

And, again, that’s no surprise to people who have been fighting for these kids, like Cindy Blackstock.

It’s largely because of Blackstock that the human rights tribunal found Canada guilty of systematically under-funding on-reserve child welfare.

“The tribunal found that Canada’s First Nation child welfare funding across the country and Ontario was discriminatory in January 2016 and
ordered Canada to stop but it did nothing until the tribunal issued a subsequent order in February 2018,” she said.

Based on that order Canada retroactively provided funds to 2016. To date, just in Ontario, the feds have “reimbursed” approximately $135
million.

But you can’t go back in time to save any of these children, no matter how much money you throw at it.

“Children died waiting for Canada. That’s the problem with them saying, oh well, we are making good first steps … be patient with us. The reality
is that children’s lives are really on the line while we’re waiting and many more children lost their lives during the time we litigated this case and
for the many years before when they had a chance to fix it,” said Blackstock.

The Trudeau government also narrowly squeezed in new legislation for Indigenous child welfare last spring.

But the day Indigenous Services Minister Seamus O’Regan tabled the bill he didn’t have a lot of details – particularly when it came to money.

This worries Blackstock who says it’s another example of the feds not taking funding child welfare seriously.

“My worry is that we really need to make sure Canada isn’t using C-92 as an escape clause for its fiscal responsibilities to First Nation children,”
she said. “Sure, it recognizes jurisdiction. But no money to implement your programs. And you’re dealing with families who are dealing with the
weight of multi-cultural trauma from residential schools, from colonialism, starvation polices, taking of land, taking of resources, ’60s Scoop, child
welfare, all things Canada was directly involved with.

“And they are going to hand it over to First nations and say good luck. I think that is wrong.”

Tikinagan didn’t respond to APTN and Payukotayno asked for questions to be sent by email but didn’t give any answers.

Meanwhile, in August the Ford government put out a call for submissions on how to improve the child welfare system in Ontario.

Earlier this month the human rights tribunal ordered Canada to pay each First Nations child who was in care, or guardian, $40,000.

As for the title of this story, “Death as Expected” comes from standardized forms, reviewed by Professor Kim Snow, that an agency worker
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completed when a child in care died of natural causes during her investigation for the former child advocate.

“It was the only words written for the reports on the kids that died as a result of medical fragility,” said Snow.

But many of these deaths, from the suicides to the undetermined, were expected said Blackstock.

“It wasn’t an accident,” she said.

kjackson@aptn.ca (mailto:kjackson@aptn.ca)

– Additional reporting by former APTN reporter Martha Troian, who helped track the number of deaths and APTN reporter Willow Fiddler, who
pulled documents from the Thunder Bay courthouse.
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